A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion when it imposed a sentence against Ms. Ralston that was clearly excessive.

2. The trial court violated RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal fees against Ms. Ralston without determining she had the ability, or likely future ability, to pay them.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Under RCW 9.94A.585(4)(b), a sentence should be reversed when it is clearly excessive. Ms. Ralston was convicted of one count of theft in the first degree and one count of forgery for stealing \$213,581.15 from the resort where she was employed. Her standard sentencing range was 2-6 months and 0-90 days, respectively. The trial court imposed a sentence of 96 months incarceration, a significantly longer sentence than typically given for property crimes involving greater losses. Did the trial court abuse its discretion given that this sentence was clearly excessive?

2. Pursuant to RCW 10.01.160(3), a court may not impose legal costs unless it finds the defendant is or will be able to pay them. The trial court imposed \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal fees, despite accepting that Ms. Ralston would be unlikely to pay enough money

toward the fees each month to cover even the accruing interest. Must this order be stricken and Ms. Ralston's case be remanded because the trial court failed to comply with the statute when imposing these exorbitant costs?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Candace Ralston was employed at Alderbrook Resort & Spa ("Alderbrook") for several years. RP 206; CP 21. From November 2009 to April 2011, Ms. Ralston worked in Alderbrook's accounting department, first as an assistant and later as the accounting program manager. RP 206; CP 21. The State alleged Ms. Ralston stole \$213,581.15 from the resort while working in the accounting department. RP 251. It claimed she took over \$190,000 in cash and the remaining amount in forged checks.

According to the State, Ms. Ralston was able to do this because the bank was conveniently located along her route home from work and as a result, she was typically responsible for making the resort's cash deposits at the bank. RP 206. The State claimed that before making a deposit Ms. Ralston routinely took some of the cash and rewrote the deposit slip. RP 221. She accounted for the discrepancies with false debits to Alderbrook's gift card account. RP 221.

Jan Miser, the head of Human Resources, was the only Alderbrook employee authorized to sign checks for the resort. RP 209. According to the testimony proffered by the State, Ms. Miser examined the invoices attached to the checks carefully but paid little attention to the checks that were written out for her signature by the accounting department. RP 211. This allowed Ms. Ralston to obtain two signed checks for her son's soccer team and one check for a timeshare drawn on Alderbrook's accounts. RP 207, 211. Ms. Ralston then forged Ms. Miser's name on checks for legitimate Alderbrook expenses in order to cover her actions. RP 212-13.

The State amended the information against Ms. Ralston five times. RP 67. The fourth amended information charged Ms. Ralston with one count of first degree theft and three counts of forgery. CP 118. Ms. Ralston submitted an Alford plea, denying she committed the crimes alleged but agreeing there was sufficient evidence for a jury to convict her.¹ RP 204; CP 64. She also stipulated that there was sufficient evidence to support the aggravating factor that her actions constituted a major economic offense.² RP 205; CP 65. In exchange

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 500 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

² RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d)

for her change of plea, the State dropped two of the forgery charges against her in a fifth amended information, leaving one count of first degree theft and one count of forgery. RP 205; CP 64, 67.

Given Ms. Ralston's offender score of 1, the standard range for the theft charge was 2 to 6 months, and the standard range for the forgery charge was 0 to 90 days. CP 58. No agreement was reached between the parties regarding the State's recommendation. The State merely indicated it would ask for an exceptional sentence. CP 60.

The trial court reviewed impact statements from the State's witnesses in preparation for sentencing and permitted three witnesses to speak at the sentencing hearing: (1) Brian McGinnis, the Alderbrook owners' representative; (2) Sarah Delgado, a staff accountant who assisted Ms. Ralston at Alderbrook; and (3) Tammy Kessler, a representative from "West Sound FC soccer team." RP 242, 244, 246. Mr. McGinnis discussed the time and resources expended by Alderbrook to assist the State in prosecuting the case, the negative media attention that resulted, and the "very bad feeling" he had after finding out about the theft. RP 242-43. Ms. Delgado explained in detail the impact the case had on her professionally and personally. RP 244-46. Although the court later indicated it did not consider any

alleged theft against the soccer team, it permitted Ms. Kessler to discuss how Ms. Ralston “took advantage” of the boys on the team, including Ms. Ralston’s own sons, who were members. RP 247, 271. Ms. Kessler acknowledged all of the funds allegedly taken from the soccer team had been returned, but insisted that “somebody that has that type of attitude, especially taking children’s money, should receive a really strong sentence so to get the – you know, that they know that they can’t do that to a minor.” RP 247.

After listening to these witnesses at length, the court denied Ms. Ralston’s request to have her mother speak at sentencing. RP 259. The trial court and Ms. Ralston’s counsel engaged in the following exchange:

THE COURT: While the State has the statutory allowance for victims to speak, there is nothing similar with respect to defendants.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, two people presented evidence who were not victims.

THE COURT: And I heard no objection.

RP 259. Despite the court’s reasoning, the State had offered no objection to Ms. Ralston’s mother addressing the court, but the trial court nonetheless denied the defense’s request to have her speak. Id.

The State recommended nine years on the theft charge and four years on the forgery charge, deferring to the court as to whether they should run concurrently or consecutively. RP 258. The trial court imposed 96 months on the theft charge and 36 months on the forgery charge, to run concurrently. RP 272. It also required Ms. Ralston to pay restitution, with the specific amount to be set at a later date after a hearing. RP 272. Finally, despite determining Ms. Ralston would only be able to pay back any legal fees at a rate of \$25 per month, it ultimately imposed a total of \$39,811.85 in legal costs, which included \$39,211.85 in discretionary fees. RP 272-73; CP 12-13; Supp CP ___ (Order Re Costs, January 23, 2014, sub no. 264).

D. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court imposed an excessive sentence on Ms. Ralston and her sentence must be reversed and her case remanded for resentencing.

a. When a sentence is clearly excessive, it must be reversed.

Appellate review of a defendant's sentence is dictated by statute. State v. Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d 388, 392, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995). When the trial court orders an exceptional sentence, that sentence must be reversed if the reasons are not supported by the record or if they do not justify the sentence. Id.; RCW 9.94A.585(4)(a). If support can be found in the

record, then the sentence must be reversed if it “was clearly too excessive or clearly too lenient.” Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 392; RCW 9.94A.585(4)(b).

The trial court’s imposition of an exceptional sentence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 392. The trial court abuses its discretion when the sentence is based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, or takes action that no reasonable person would have taken. Id. at 393. When the length of the sentence is so long that it “shocks the conscience of the reviewing court,” the trial court has acted in a way that no reasonable person would, and has therefore abused its discretion. Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 396 (quoting State v. Ross, 71 Wn. App. 556, 573, 861 P.2d 473 (1993)).

In Ritchie, the court examined the sentences of three defendants. 126 Wn.2d at 398-404. The first defendant severely beat and attempted to rape an elderly woman with Alzheimer’s before killing her. Id. at 398. The trial court imposed a sentence less than three times the top of the defendant’s standard range. Id. at 399 (standard range was 240 to 320 months, the court sentenced defendant to 900 months). The second defendant raped a six-week-old baby girl, causing severe injury to the newborn that resulted in surgery and hospitalization. Id. at 400-01.

The trial court imposed a sentence of incarceration approximately four and a half times the top of the defendant's standard range, with additional community custody time. Id. at 401 (standard range was 51 to 68 months and the court imposed 312 months). The third defendant was convicted of breaking a 20-month-old boy's arms and legs, and evidence at trial suggested he had systematically tortured the children in his care, including repeatedly suffocating, and then resuscitating, the boy's younger sister. Id. at 402-03. The trial court imposed a sentence approximately nine times the top of the defendant's standard range. Id. at 404 (standard range was 3 to 9 months and the court imposed 84 months).

The Ritchie court affirmed all of the defendants' sentences, finding none shocked the conscience. Id. at 404. In each case, the defendant had engaged in incredibly brutal acts against a particularly vulnerable victim, and the sentences imposed were three to nine times the top of the standard range. Cases following Ritchie have shown such sentences are common when the facts are similarly egregious. See e.g. State v. Haley, 140 Wn. App. 313, 325, 165 P.3d 409 (2007) (defendant sentenced to less than 5 times the top of the standard range after raping a three-year-old). In contrast, Ms. Ralston committed a

property crime against a corporation, and was sentenced to a period of incarceration sixteen times the top of her standard range. RP 272; CP 58.

- b. Ms. Ralston's sentence was clearly excessive and must be reversed.

Property crimes are, of course, subject to exceptional sentences. The legislature's intent that property crimes involving multiple acts or victims, resulting in a loss substantially greater than typical for the offense, occurring over a long period of time, or committed while in a position of trust, be punished more severely is evident from the plain language of RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). However, where the trial court properly acted within its authority to impose an exceptional sentence, that sentence may still be unlawfully excessive. Prior cases involving the imposition of exceptional sentences for property crimes, in which the courts did not find the defendant's sentence was excessive, demonstrate that Ms. Ralston's sentence was harsher than the typical exceptional sentence.

In State v. Oxborrow, the defendant created an elaborate pyramid scheme, in which he defrauded investors of over \$58 million. 106 Wn.2d 525, 526-27, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986). Of the amount stolen,

\$13 million was never returned. Id. at 527. Losses to individuals were as high as \$2.4 million and over 500 of the investors lost everything. Id. at 527. Given that the theft occurred in the early 1980s, these numbers are even more striking if one accounts for inflation. The court upheld the defendant's exceptional sentence, finding that 180 months, or 15 times the top of the standard range, was not clearly excessive given the enormity of the amount stolen. Id. at 534. In comparison, Ms. Ralston allegedly stole \$213,581.15 approximately 30 years later, and received a sentence 16 times the top of her standard range.

In State v. Knutz, the defendant preyed on an elderly man living in an assisted living home, convincing her to give him \$347,000 over the course of three years. 161 Wn. App. 395, 399, 253 P.3d 436 (2011). The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of five years, which was only ten times the top of the standard range. In State v. Branch, the defendant stole from his own company. 129 Wn.2d 635, 639, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). Although the defendant's sentence was 16 times the top of the standard range, it resulted in a sentence of 48 months for a theft of nearly \$400,000, committed in 1996. Id. at 650. Again, the comparison is striking. The State alleged Ms. Ralston stole considerably less money but she was sentenced to a far longer period of

incarceration. The facts of Ms. Ralston's offense and the severity of the sentence imposed is easily distinguished from those cases in which this Court has found a sentence was not clearly excessive.

The State may highlight that Ms. Ralston, unlike some defendants, maintained her innocence at sentencing despite her plea of guilty, but a court may not consider a defendant's professed innocence when imposing an exceptional sentence. State v. Serrano, 95 Wn. App. 700, 709, 977 P.2d 47 (1999). Thus, the court should not have considered that factor when imposing sentence.

It is unclear, however, what the court did choose to consider. It refused to hear from Ms. Ralston's only sentencing witness despite hearing from multiple State witnesses, including one who was clearly confused about the basis for the charges against Ms. Ralston and discussed issues the court later determined were improper considerations at sentencing. RP 247, 271. Although the court pointed to the fact Ms. Ralston failed to object to these witnesses, the State similarly had made no objection. RP 259. Thus, the court's decision appeared arbitrary and biased against Ms. Ralston. The court's subsequent imposition of a 96-month sentence was shocking in light of the facts of the case and Ms. Ralston's offender score. The sentence

was clearly excessive and an abuse of discretion. It must be reversed and the case remanded for resentencing. Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 392.

2. The fees imposed against Ms. Ralston must be stricken and the case remanded because the court failed to consider Ms. Ralston’s financial resources and the nature of the burden such costs would impose as required by RCW 10.01.160(3).

- a. The court ordered Ms. Ralston to pay \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal costs without finding she would have the ability to pay them.

Under RCW 10.01.160, a court may order a defendant to pay legal fees, but it “shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them.” In determining the amount of the fees, “the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.” At sentencing, the trial court ordered Ms. Ralston to pay \$5,678 in legal costs, which included discretionary costs of \$200 for a filing fee and \$4,878 for sheriff service fees. CP 12. It later imposed an additional \$34,133.85 in defense costs, including fees for the court appointed attorney and defense expert for a total of \$39,211.85 in discretionary fees. Supp CP __ (Order Re Costs, January 23, 2014, sub no. 264).

Formal findings supporting the trial court's decision to impose legal fees under RCW 10.01.160 are not required, but the record must minimally establish that the sentencing judge actually considered the defendant's individual financial circumstances and made an individualized determination she has the ability, or likely future ability, to pay. State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). In this case, boilerplate language in the Judgment and Sentence stated:

The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change.

CP 9. However, nothing in the record suggests that the court actually considered Ms. Ralston's financial circumstances before imposing the costs, or determined it was likely Ms. Ralston would ever be able to pay the \$39,211.85 of discretionary costs imposed.

Instead, the court imposed the costs, and then questioned defense counsel about what kind of payment schedule Ms. Ralston would require, given her limited means. RP 272-72. The court engaged in the following exchange with defense counsel:

THE COURT: The court costs will include the filing fee of \$200.00; sheriff's return on service,

which at this point, I believe, totals \$4,878.50. The Court will also require that you reimburse the County for the cost of court-appointed counsel as well as the cost of defense experts. Additionally, \$500.00 to the crime victims compensation fund; \$100.00 to the DNA fund.

The Court will require that, if these monies are not paid in full, that there be monthly payments toward the legal financial obligation. And Mr. Cordes, what type of employment and monthly income do you anticipate your client would be having after her release, which is when the payments are required to start?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Given her background, Your Honor, and the conviction, I don't have any idea. I mean, she's probably not going to get any type of employment that she's previously had, so my guess is that if she gets employment it's going to be on the low end somewhere.

THE COURT: Well, the Court at this time will set minimum monthly payments of \$25.00 per month. Obviously, that isn't going to be enough to even cover the interest that accrues at twelve percent per annum.

RP 272-73.

Thus, in direct violation of RCW 10.01.160(3), the trial court ordered the costs before giving any consideration to whether Ms. Ralston would be able to pay them. In fact, after issuing the order the trial court acknowledged Ms. Ralston was unlikely to ever have the ability to pay the costs in full, and set a low minimum monthly

payment in recognition of her inability to pay the fees after her release. RP 273; CP 13. As the court noted, because Ms. Ralston would be capable of paying so little, her payments on the ordered costs would not “even cover the interest that accrues at twelve percent per annum.” RP 273.

- b. An illegal sentence may be challenged for the first time on appeal, and is ripe for review prior to the collection of legal fees.

Ms. Ralston did not object to the imposition of these fees. This Court indicated in State v. Blazina that it may decline to consider a challenge to costs raised for the first time on appeal, despite addressing this issue in past cases. 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013), rev. granted 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013). However, it is well established that an illegal or erroneous sentence may be challenged for the first time on appeal. State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 427, 477-78, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The imposition of \$39,211.85 in discretionary fees was an unlawful sentencing order.

In addition, while this Court has previously suggested legal costs may be challenged only after the State seeks to enforce the order, those cases did not address the validity of an order that failed to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3). See e.g. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96,

107, 308 P.3d 755 (2013); State v. Ziegenfuss, 118 Wn. App. 110, 74 P.3d 1205 (2003). A claim is fit for judicial determination “if the issues raised are primarily legal, do not require further factual development, and the challenged action is final.” State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 751, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). This order meets all of these requirements. The court’s failure to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) is a legal issue fully supported by the record. Although Ms. Ralston could later seek to modify the court’s order, that fact does not change the finality of the original sentencing order. Ms. Ralston is entitled to review of the unlawful order of costs imposed by the trial court.

- c. Ms. Ralston’s case must be remanded because the record does not show the trial court would have found the evidence established she had the ability to pay \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal fees.

Remand is the appropriate remedy when the trial court fails to comply with a sentencing statute unless the record clearly indicates the court would have imposed the same condition regardless. State v. Chambers, 176 Wn.2d 573, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013) (citing State v. Parker, 132 Wn.2d 182, 937 P.2d 575 (1997)). Here, the record does not show the evidence supported a finding that Ms. Ralston had the ability, or likely future ability, to pay \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal

fees. When the court inquired about Ms. Ralston's ability to make payments, it accepted defense counsel's representation that Ms. Ralston was unlikely to find lucrative employment given her convictions and lengthy prison sentence, and set the monthly payments so low that they will not even cover the accruing interest. RP 273; CP 13.