COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

CANDACE RALSTON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Amber L. Finlay, Judge

No. 11-1-00126-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. Ralston stipulated to an exceptional sentence when she entered an Alford plea in this case. The length of the exceptional sentence then imposed by the court was not an abuse of the court's discretion because in light of the seriousness of Ralston's thefts, the sentence is not shocking to the conscience.

Ralston stipulated to the aggravating factors when she entered her guilty plea (CP 65); thus, she does not contest the imposition of an exceptional sentence in this case. But, she contends that the exceptional sentence she received in this case is clearly excessive. Br. of Appellant at 8-14.

When the length of an exceptional sentence is challenged on appeal as an excessive sentence, the sentence is reviewed under the "abuse of discretion" standard to determine whether the sentence imposed is

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

clearly excessive or too lenient. *State v. Hutsell*, 120 Wn.2d 913, 916, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993).

A sentence is "clearly excessive" if it one that is clearly unreasonable, "i.e., exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, or an action that no reasonable person would have taken." *State v. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d 388, 393, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995) (quoting *State v. Oxborrow*, 106 Wn.2d 525, 531, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986)). When a sentencing court does not base its sentence on improper reasons, a reviewing court will find the sentence excessive only if its length, in light of the record, "shocks the conscience." *State v. Vaughn*, 83 Wn. App. 669, 681, 924 P.2d 27 (1996) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d at 396), *review denied*, 131 Wn.2d 1018(1997).

Ralston compares here sentence to the sentences imposed in the cases of *State v. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d 388, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995) and *State v. Haley*, 140 Wn. App. 313, 165 P.3d 409 (2007) and argues that her sentence is clearly excessive because her sentence is 16 times the top of the standard range and was a property crime committed against *a corporation*, while *Ritchie* and *Haley* involved violent crimes against individuals but resulted in sentences that ranged from less three times the standard range up to only nine times the standard range. Br. of Appellant

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

at 9-11. But the mere fact that Ralston's victims chose to organize their business as a corporation does not make them any less human. The impact of Ralston's crimes on human beings is obvious. Shareholders are, ultimately, human, and the money Ralston stole from Alderbrook obviously effected the resort's profitability and, thus, their ability to hire or retain workers, to offer raises or improved benefits to surviving workers, or to make improvements to the business that would enrich the working environment of the employees who depend on Alderbrook for their livelihoods. Still more, the resort provides diversity of employment to the rural Mason County economy and offers families an alternative to employment in the shellfish or forestry industries. If Alderbrook fails, the community suffers. Ralston's crimes were clearly crimes of major economic impact.

Additionally, Ralston's argument to compare her sentence to other sentences is without legal support, because *State v. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d 388, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995) rejected proportionality as a consideration on review of whether the length of a trial court's properly imposed exceptional sentence is excessive. *Id.* at 391, 396-97. Ralston's sentencing court was not required to engage in comparisons, but the court nevertheless had the benefit of comparing Ralston's sentence to sentences

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

imposed by the court in comparable cases, if it chose to, and Ralston's sentence was not out of line with the comparable cases. RP 252-58, 269.

Still more, Ralston's comparisons do not support her argument. For example, Ralston cites *State v. Oxborrow*, 106 Wn.2d 525, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986) and points out that the defendant in *Oxborrow* stole \$58 million from over 50 investors but received a sentence that was only 15 times the standard range. Br. of Appellant at 11-12. But in actuality, the defendant in *Oxborrow* "obtained over \$58 million" in investments, "of which only \$45 million was returned to the investors." *Id.* at 527. "Oxborrow pled guilty to theft in the first degree, RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a), and to willful violation of a cease and desist order concerning the sale of securities, RCW 21.20.390, by defrauding approximately 51 investors of over \$1 million subsequent to July 1, 1984 [footnote omitted]." *Oxborrow* at 528.

Ralston contends that her sentence is excessive because she stole only a small fraction of what the defendant in *Oxborrow* stole, yet her sentence is 16 times the standard range. *Id.* But, Ralston's argument does not account for the fact that the defendant in *Oxborrow* received the *maximum* sentence of 10 years for his theft crime and received a sentence of one-half the maximum, or five years, for his crime of disobeying a

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

cease and desist order, to run consecutively, rather than concurrently.

Oxborrow at 528. Obviously, where the sentencing court imposed the maximum sentence for the theft, an attempt to compare the sentence to a multiple of the standard range is not helpful.

When an exceptional sentence is based on proper reasons, as it ins in the instant case, a reviewing court will hold it clearly excessive only "if its length, in light of the record, 'shocks the conscience." *State v. Knutz*, 161 Wn. App. 395, 410-11, 253 P.3d 437, 444-45 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Kolesnik*, 146 Wn. App. 790, 805, 192 P.3d 937 (2008)). A sentence shocks the conscience if it is one that "no reasonable person would adopt." *Knutz*, 161 Wn. App. at 411 (quoting *State v. Halsey*, 140 Wn. App. 313, 324–25, 165 P.3d 409 (2007)).

In the instant case, the trial court properly imposed an exceptional sentence. Ralston stipulated to the aggravating factors when she pled guilty, and the court independently made a finding of the aggravating factor. CP 65; RP 272. Although Ralston's offender score was one, she had a prior, uncounted, conviction for theft from stealing from an employer. RP 249, 267. The trial court's sentence here should not shock the conscience. Without any sign of remorse, Ralston abused the trust of

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

her employer to commit a crime with major economic impact by stealing more than \$200,000.00 over a period of a year and a half. RP 199, 202-35; CP 57-66; CP 67-69.

2. Most of the restitution award entered by the trial court is not in dispute. But Ralston disputes an award for \$66,427.56 for investigative costs because the prosecutor voluntarily reduced the requested amount by 10% to account for a part of the investigation for which there was no corresponding criminal charge. And Ralston disputes an award of \$8,607.54 for employee costs related to her crimes because the employees did not separately account for the time spent on Ralston's crimes. Because the facts support a finding that the figures used were under payments rather than overpayments, the trial court did not err by ordering these restitution figures.

At the restitution hearing, the prosecutor itemized the restitution requests to the court. RP Vol. 3, 7-13. The prosecutor summarized that there were three items of restitution to be reimbursed to CHUBB Insurance Company, as follows: \$195,893.00 for missing cash; 2) \$9,996.00 for the fraudulent time-share check; and, 3) \$66,427.56 for accounting fees charged by Moss Adams for retracing Ralston's various thefts. RP Vol. 3, 13. The \$66,427.56 requested for accounting fees represented a 10% reduction of the full fee, because the prosecutor proposed a 10% reduction to account for the fact that Moss Adams also

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

examined records related to gift card fraud for which Ralston was never charged, and fees related to the gift card fraud were subtracted from the total fee "in fairness to the defendant." RP Vol. 3, 11.

The prosecutor also requested restitution for Alderbrook, as follows: 1) \$5,000.00 to compensate Alderbrook for its insurance deductible; 2) compensation for time spent by Alderbrook employees dealing with investigating and accounting for Ralston's thefts (three employees at 80 hours each); and, 3) Alderbrook's attorney fees incurred for unraveling the thefts and seeking recovery. RP Vol. 3, 13.

The parties agreed to restitution in the amount of \$9,996.00 to CHUBB Insurance and \$8,191.63 to Key Bank. RP Vol. 3, 35. But there was disagreement regarding the cash receipts, investigative fees, fees for staff work, and attorney fees. RP Vol. 3, 35.

The trial court then considered various items of evidence, to include a report from Moss Adams which reviewed receipts from Alderbrook, a declaration from Tabatha McZorn, and other evidence and found that a restitution award of \$195,893.00 for lost cash was appropriate as an easily ascertainable amount supported by proof by a preponderance of evidence. RP Vol. 3, 36.

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

The trial court then ruled that the request for investigative fees, which included accounting fees, was appropriate, and the court ordered restitution of \$66,427.56 for these fees. RP Vol. 3, 37. This amount reflected a 10% reduction from the original fee, in order to subtract out fees incurred for investigating Ralston's gift card fraud that was never charged. RP Vol. 3, 37.

The court declined to award restitution for attorney fees. RP Vol. 3, 38.

The court then found that Alderbrook was entitled to a restitution award for costs it incurred for employee salaries devoted to dealing with Ralston's thefts. RP Vol. 3, 38. But the court noted that there was an issue with whether this cost was an easily ascertainable amount. RP Vol. 3, 38. The court then described the evidence that it considered. RP Vol. 3, 38-38. The court then found that the amount requested was reasonable, and it ordered restitution of \$8,607.54 for employee costs. RP Vol. 3, 39.

Finally, the court ordered \$5,000.00 restitution to Alderbrook for the cost of their insurance deductible. RP Vol. 3, 39.

On appeal, Ralston disputes only the court's \$66,427.56 restitution award for investigative fees and the court's \$8,607.54 award for Alderbrook's crime-related employee expenses. Br. of Appellant at 18.

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

First, Ralston's reason for disputing the investigative fees is that the prosecutor unilaterally agreed to reduce the full amount of the investigative fees by 10% to account for costs incurred in investigating gift card fraud for which Ralston was not ultimately charged. Br. of Appellant at 15-16. But the State contends that even if the State agreed to reduce the charges by 10% "in fairness to the defendant" (RP Vol. 3, 11), it is also fair to attribute those costs to Ralston, because it was her acts of theft and forgery that brought about the need to undergo that analysis in the first place, and this need arose irrespective of whether she was separately criminally charged in relation to that investigation. See, e.g., Declaration of Reinhold Schuetz, CP 14-19.

Ralston disputes Alderbrook's request for employee expenses because they did not separately account for and segregate the time that each employee spent to deal with the aftermath of Ralston's thefts and the resulting investigation and recovery attempts. However, the trial court reviewed the evidence and determined that the restitution award was appropriate. RP Vol. 3, 37-39.

"When disputed, the facts supporting a restitution award must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Deskins*, 180 Wn.2d 68, 82-84, 322 P.3d 780 (2014), *as amended* (June 5, 2014), citing *State v.*

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d 272, 285, 119 P.3d 350 (2005). ""Evidence supporting restitution is sufficient if it affords a reasonable basis for estimating loss and does not subject the trier of fact to mere speculation or conjecture."" Deskins at 82-83, quoting Kinneman at 285 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 154, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), overruled on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006)). Still more, "[c]ourts may rely on a broad range of evidence—including hearsay—because the rules of evidence do not apply to sentencing hearings. ER 1101(c)(3). Deskins at 83.

Here, there was not an exact accounting of the amount of money that Alderbrook expended to investigate Ralston's gift card transactions, for which she was never charged, but the evidence is clear that Alderbrook incurred those charges because Ralston's acts of thefts against Alderbrook led to the necessity of this investigation. The mere fact that the prosecutor voluntarily elected not to pursue those costs, "in fairness to the defendant" (RP Vol. 3, 11), should not lead to a result that the remaining costs are not ascertainable.

Likewise, employee expenses attributable to Ralston's crimes were not separately tracked, but the totality of the circumstances shows that the

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

estimate that the court relied upon was an under estimate of the actual costs. Ralston should not benefit from this windfall.

3. The trial court considered the fact that Ralston would be unlikely to possess means to pay the legal financial obligations ordered by the court at sentencing; so, the court set the monthly payments at \$25.00. However, after Ralston's filed her brief with this Court, the Supreme Court released its opinion in the case of *State v. Blazina*, 89028-5 (Mar. 12, 2015), which held that trial courts when imposing discretionary costs should completely consider each defendant's ability to pay and should do so on the record.

Ralston avers that the trial court did not consider her ability to pay when at sentencing the court ordered her to \$39,211.85 in discretionary legal financial obligations. Br. of Appellant at 18-21. But the court did consider Ralston's ability to pay. RP 273. The court noted that Ralston would be in custody for some time and that payments would not be due until she was released. RP 273. The court also considered than Ralston's employment opportunities may be limited when she is released, so the court set the payments at a mere \$25.00 per month. RP 273.

Ralston contends that she may raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Br. of Appellant at 21-22. When Ralston filed her brief, the Supreme Court had not yet released its recent decision of *State v. Blazina*,

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

89028-5 (Mar. 12, 2015). The Court in *Blazina* rejected arguments similar to those Ralston is advancing in the instant case. *Id. Blazina* held that defendants do not automatically have the right to raise cost issues for the first time on appeal when there is no objection in the trial court to preserve the issue for appeal. *Id.*

Although the Court stated that reviewing courts were not required to consider unpreserved objections to costs for the first time on appeal, it nevertheless exercised its discretionary authority and accepted review under RAP 2.5(a). *Id.* The Court in *Blazina* found that the trial court did not conduct an adequate inquiry into the defendants' ability to pay costs in that case; so, the Court ordered remand for the trial court to fully consider the defendants' abilities to pay. *Id.*

The costs imposed in this case, combined with the large restitution award, cast doubt on Ralston's ability to pay. If she pays at the rate of \$25.00 per month, it is likely the total accrued balance after accounting for interest will compound at a rate that will grow and grow month by month and never be reduced. If this Court exercises its discretionary authority and considers Ralston's cost issue for the first time on appeal, the State asks that, rather than a resentencing, this case be remanded to the trial court on the issue of costs only, for the trial court to fully consider

State's Response Brief Case No. 45883-7-II

Ralston's ability to pay and that the trial court modify its existing

judgment and sentence to reflect the court's intent regarding costs.

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above the State requests the Court to sustain

the length of the exceptional sentence imposed by the trial court and the

award of restitution ordered by the trial court.

If this Court elects to exercise its authority under RAP 2.5(a) to

review Ralston's claim that the trial court erred by not on the record

conducting a complete inquiry of Ralston's ability to pay discretionary

legal financial obligations, the State asks that this Court remand this case

to the trial court for consideration of Ralston's ability to pay discretionary

costs and for modification or amendment of the judgment and sentence, as

appropriate to reflect the trial court's findings.